

Eighth Annual Meeting of the European Forum of National Nursing and Midwifery Associations and WHO

Report on a WHO meeting
Skopje, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia
24-25 June 2004

ABSTRACT

The Eighth Annual Meeting of the European Forum of Nursing and Midwifery Associations and WHO was attended by representatives of nursing and midwifery associations from 24 Member States in WHO's European Region and observers from international associations and nongovernmental organizations. The main focus of the meeting was mental health, a key priority area of the WHO Regional Office for Europe. The agenda comprised two main components: the first focused on the business of the Forum and the second provided an opportunity for technical discussions on a draft statement on mental health in line with the Munich Declaration. Three working groups discussed aspects of mental health of importance to nurses and midwives. The Statement on mental health, nursing and midwifery was endorsed by the meeting.

Keywords

SOCIETIES, NURSING – congresses MIDWIFERY – trends NURSING – trends MENTAL HEALTH EUROPE

Address requests about publications of the WHO Regional Office to:

• by e-mail <u>publicationrequests@euro.who.int</u> (for copies of publications)

<u>permissions@euro.who.int</u> (for permission to reproduce them) pubrights@euro.who.int (for permission to translate them)

• by post Publications

WHO Regional Office for Europe

Scherfigsvej 8

DK-2100 Copenhagen Ø, Denmark

© World Health Organization 2004

All rights reserved. The Regional Office for Europe of the World Health Organization welcomes requests for permission to reproduce or translate its publications, in part or in full.

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the World Health Organization concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Where the designation "country or area" appears in the headings of tables, it covers countries, territories, cities, or areas. Dotted lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by the World Health Organization in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

The World Health Organization does not warrant that the information contained in this publication is complete and correct and shall not be liable for any damages incurred as a result of its use. The views expressed by authors or editors do not necessarily represent the decisions or the stated policy of the World Health Organization.

CONTENTS

	Page
Opening of the Meeting.	
Address by the WHO Regional Office for Europe	1
Nomination of the Chairperson	
Announcement of the Rapporteur	
Report by the Chairperson.	
Report from the fifty-third session of the WHO Regional Committee for Europe	3
Elections to the Steering Committee	4
Financial report	5
Presentation and adoption of the draft strategic plan 2003–2008	5
Technical discussions	6
Overview of mental health in the European Region	6
Promotion of mental health and prevention of mental ill health: searching out the evidence	7
Introduction to workshops	
Presentation of workshop reports	
Concluding session.	
Adoption of the Statement on mental health, nursing and midwifery	
Dates and venue of next meeting	
Annex 1. Feedback from the working groups	
Annex 2. Statement on mental health, nursing and midwifery	13
Annex 3. List of documents	15
Annex 4. Strategic plan 2003–2008 for the European Forum of National Nursing and Midwifery Associations and WHO	16
Annex 5. Financial Statement, January–December 2003	19
Annex 6. Budget proposal for 2004 and 2005	20
Annex 7. List of participants	21
Annex 8. Participants from The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia	27

Opening of the Meeting

The President of the Nursing and Midwifery Association (NMA) of The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia welcomed the participants and gave the floor to the Minister of Health of The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia.

The Minister highlighted the role of nurses and midwives as members of the most compassionate professions and the important opportunity offered by the meeting for them to discuss health care issues, work out strategies and action plans and cooperate in putting those into practice. He pointed out the essential role of nurses and midwives in disease prevention and treatment, health care and promotion, and rehabilitation, their common goals.

The Minister stressed the importance of the key issue to be discussed by the meeting – mental health – and spoke of the rise in mental ill health over recent years owing to the fast pace of living and increased social problems.

The Minister also stated that the public health care system in his country was undergoing reorganization and that mental health policy and strategy and the mental health law were on the Government's agenda for that year. The Minister confirmed that mental health was very important in promoting human rights and described the results achieved and the directions of future work in the area in his country.

He emphasized, however, that reform would be impossible without the active involvement of nurses and midwives, along with other health professionals, in the overall process of reform and mental health promotion. The priority engagement of nurses and midwives should focus on early detection, intervention, care and continuous monitoring of patients' mental health. Without their involvement, it would not be possible to implement the reforms.

The Minister expressed his confidence that the Statement on mental health to be adopted by the meeting would help in implementing the reforms, not only in his country, but also throughout the European Region.

He wished the participants fruitful and successful discussions and pronounced the Eighth Annual Meeting open.

On behalf of the NMA of The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, the President expressed her pleasure at hosting the annual meeting of the European Forum of National Nursing and Midwifery Associations (EFNNMA) and WHO and her hopes for productive and professional discussions.

Address by the WHO Regional Office for Europe

The Head of the WHO Country Office in Skopje conveyed his thanks to the country for hosting the meeting and to the Minister for his support for the Forum and his special commitment to the process of reorganizing the health care and treatment system for patients with mental health problems.

The Manager for Nursing and Midwifery Programme, WHO Regional Office for Europe, welcomed participants to the meeting and conveyed the greetings of the Director, Division of Country Support and the Regional Adviser for Nursing and Midwifery who, unfortunately, were not able to be present.

She stated that mental health was the main theme of the meeting and underlined the need for nurses and midwives to focus on the issue in both primary and secondary health care environments. A useful support in this was the *WHO Europe mental health nursing curriculum: WHO European strategy for continuing education for nurses and midwives*, published in 2003.

Collaboration between all Member States was important in reaffirming commitment to the Munich Declaration of 2000. A follow-up country report questionnaire had been sent out in April 2004. Regretfully, less than 50% of the forms had been sent back so far. The Manager strongly encouraged the participants to complete and submit the questionnaire to help WHO support Member States in implementing the Munich Declaration.

The Forum had launched its own web site (<u>www.euro.who/efnnma</u>) as part of its business plan and participants were encouraged to use it in the future.

The floor was given to the President of the NMA, who once more welcomed participants and presented a video film about her country.

Nomination of the Chairperson

The meeting approved the nomination of Ms Merete Thorsén (Danish Nurses' Organization), Chairperson of the Steering Committee of EFNNMA, as Chairperson of the meeting.

Announcement of the Rapporteur

It was agreed that Ms Annie Marott (Danish Nurses' Organization) would act as rapporteur for the meeting.

Adoption of the programme and agenda

The meeting adopted the programme and agenda. Participants were informed that representatives from 24 countries were present at the meeting.

Report by the Chairperson

The Chairperson of the EFNNMA Steering Committee presented the report, a copy of which was distributed at the meeting. She began by welcoming the participants, particularly the representatives of new member associations.

She then presented a review of the Steering Committee's work during 2003–2004 and commented on representation of the Forum at different events during that period:

- The Fifty-sixth World Health Assembly, May 2003, had been attended by a delegation from the International Council of Nurses (ICN); the Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (FCTC) had been on the agenda.
- A workshop in Copenhagen, June 2003, with ICN, the International Pharmaceutical Federation, the European Forum of Pharmacists and WHO and the European Forum of Medical Associations and WHO; the possibilities of closer cooperation had been explored.
- The ICN Council of National Representatives' meeting in June 2003 had shown great interest in the Forum and offered cooperation and financial support that had allowed representatives from several east European countries to participate in the present meeting.
- A meeting with the Minister of Health and the Chief Nursing Officer of Lithuania, August 2003, had included discussion of follow-up to the Munich Declaration and support for the family health nurse model in Lithuania.
- A WHO informal meeting of health professional organizations on tobacco control: the potential role of the organizations in the signing, ratification and implementation of the FCTC had been on the agenda. The result had been a web-based endorsement of FCTC on www.FCTCnow.org.

The Chairperson commented on another subject being explored by the Forum: twinning projects involving the European associations and the associations of the newly independent states in a more inclusive way. She urged the organizations to take up such opportunities to offer solidarity and support the initiatives. She extended special thanks for the support offered by the Swedish Association of Health Professionals to the Russian Federation, the Irish Nurses' Organization to Belarus and the Danish Nurses' Organization to Kyrgyzstan.

She concluded by giving a short review of the current situation of the network which had caused difficulties, particularly in terms of organization and time limits, during the preparatory work for the meeting. She thanked the host association for its willingness to help and hoped to be able to welcome Ms Fawcett-Henesy back to work in September. She thanked the Manager for all she had done and welcomed the new secretary, Ms Elena Galmond. Finally she expressed special thanks to the Danish Nurses' Organization for covering all her expenses for participation in Steering Committee meetings, to avoid putting strain on the Forum's finances.

Report from the fifty-third session of the WHO Regional Committee for Europe

Ms Sylvia Denton (Royal College of Nursing, United Kingdom), a member of the Steering Committee, presented the report from the fifty-third session of the WHO Regional Committee for Europe, Vienna, 8–11 September 2003, where she had represented the Forum as an observer.

The main policy and technical issues on the agenda had been mental health, child and adolescent health, the methodology for the update of the regional Health for All policy framework, the Regional Office's country strategy and the strategic orientation of the Regional Office's work with geographically dispersed organizational entities. She noted with regret that nursing and midwifery had not been mentioned frequently during the Regional Committee discussions on policy and technical issues.

Ms Denton mentioned the statement presented by Ms Pat Hughes, on behalf of ICN, which had highlighted the importance of implementing the recommendations of the Munich Declaration. She also mentioned a statement from the Forum, outlining its purpose and work, which she had distributed to as many interested delegates as she could.

She urged participants to contact their health ministers to ask them to add a nursing perspective to the items to be discussed at the fifty-fourth session of the WHO Regional Committee for Europe, to be held in Copenhagen from 6 to 9 September 2004. The main policy items on the agenda were to be:

- European strategy on noncommunicable diseases
- follow-up to the fourth Ministerial Conference on Environment and Health.

Ms Denton pointed out the vital and important role played by nurses and midwives in improving the health of the peoples of WHO's European Region and hence the importance of the Forum's presence at key meetings.

A copy of the report was distributed.

Elections to the Steering Committee

The Manager announced the current members who were: Ms Merete Thorsén (Danish Nurses' Organization), Chairperson; Ms Marian van Huis (KNOV, Netherlands), Deputy Chairperson; Ms Kerstin Belfrage (Swedish Association of Health Professionals), Treasurer; Ms Myriam Ovalle (General Council of Nursing, Spain), board member; Ms Velka Lukic Gavrovska (NMA, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia), board member; Ms Sylvia Denton (Royal College of Nursing, United Kingdom), board member.

There was one vacant seat.

Four nominations had been received for election to the three vacant posts on the Steering Committee: Ms Valentina Sarkisova (Russian Nurses' Association); Dame Karlene Davis (Royal College of Midwives, United Kingdom), Ms Myriam Ovalle Bernal (General Council of Nursing, Spain); Ms Aase Marie Jakobsen (Norwegian Nurses' Association).

The nominations were endorsed.

Two nominees received an equal number of votes. As there were only three vacancies, lots were drawn for the third post. The meeting thus endorsed the appointment of the following three members to the Steering Committee: Ms Jakobsen, Ms Sarkisova and Dame Karlene Davis.

The Chairperson thanked the Steering Committee members for their hard work and support and congratulated the newly elected Steering Committee members.

Financial report

Ms Kerstin Belfrage (Sweden), Treasurer, presented the financial report. The annual meeting had two options for the 2003 budget. The first was calculated on the basis of membership fees from 32 member associations. The second was based on fees from 50 member associations. Option 2 included no restrictions on the membership of ICN or the International Confederation of Midwives.

In 2003, 30 member associations had paid their fees to EFNNMA and WHO, which had given an income of US\$ 24 884.

The main cost for the Forum had been the administrative support and secretariat services provided from the WHO Regional Office in Copenhagen. Without those services, it would not have been possible for the Forum to work, as no single association was able to take on the task alone. Costs had been included in the budget for the Chairperson's travel, but the Danish Nurses' Organization had covered those expenses.

There were no remarks on the financial statement for 2003.

The proposed budgets for 2004 and 2005 were presented and discussed, based on the current number of member organizations, rather than an estimated number.

Ms Belfrage thanked the Swedish Association of Health Professionals for their support in providing a Russian translator and also thanked The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia for arranging and hosting the annual meeting.

In conclusion, Ms Belfrage distributed an address list to all the participants and asked them to make the relevant corrections, pointing out its importance for future communications between member organizations and for the distribution of relevant materials by electronic mail.

Presentation and adoption of the draft strategic plan 2003–2008

Ms Margaret Wallace (United Kingdom) presented a short review of the work performed and introduced the strategic plan for 2003–2008.

Following the previous year's discussion in Madrid, the Steering Committee had considered feedback on the role and function of the Forum.

The Forum had a unique role in providing a platform for discussion on nursing and midwifery. It was a useful resource for sharing information, and acted as a lobbying and advisory body. It encouraged twinning between associations, implementation of the Munich Declaration and the establishment of links with government chief nurses/midwives, as well as providing assistance with new appointments to regional advisory posts.

Ms Wallace pointed out that the new focus should be on information, the newsletter, the web site, increased twinning and tripling, and identifying priorities so as to choose fewer themes.

Based on the feedback received, the Steering Committee had developed a strategic plan, a mission statement and key objectives including action, outcomes, a time frame, allocation of overall responsibility and an associated operational plan.

The mission statement specified that the Forum and WHO existed to recognize the value of dialogue and the potential strength of joint action to promote health in Europe. It was a unique platform on which to consider health-related issues of concern to both nursing and midwifery across the whole of Europe and to combine the strengths of the national nursing and midwifery associations and WHO. It worked collaboratively with other key groups as appropriate to avoid duplication of human and financial resources.

The key objectives were defined as being:

- to identify policy issues of relevance to members and to agree on a coordinated strategy of approach;
- to act as an information and networking resource for members, sharing information about health and health policies which impact on nursing and midwifery across Europe;
- to actively support implementation of the Munich Declaration of 2000.

The meeting was then asked to consider, amend if necessary and agree on the proposed strategic plan.

The Steering Committee was congratulated on its work in developing the plan. Since the mission statement included collaboration with other key groups, an additional objective was proposed:

• to work in collaboration with other relevant organizations and promote policies with an impact on health across Europe.

The outcomes were: identifying common interests; identifying common key groups; working together on common issues.

The participants discussed the proposed objectives and the meeting approved the amendment and the proposed strategic plan.

Technical discussions

Overview of mental health in the European Region

Dr Matt Muijen, Regional Adviser on Mental Health, WHO Regional Office for Europe, presented an overview of mental health in the European Region.

The WHO European Region comprised 52 countries with very diverse cultures, resources and health services. However, mental health care in all those countries was facing the challenge of transforming those services. Drivers for change were societal transitions, a growing emphasis on human rights, changes in consumer expectations and empowerment, and growing evidence of effective and efficient care. Stigma and discrimination could not be ignored and were causing severe and preventable suffering.

Dr Muijen emphasized that all those changes affected the roles and responsibilities of the mental health workforce. The shift from institutionalized care to community-based services required a change in attitudes, knowledge and skills. The needs of both existing and new staff had to be addressed, and potential new roles for traditional staff groups and the potential need to introduce new types of staff had to be considered. For example, the prescribing rights of nonmedical staff in some countries had implications for the roles of not only prescribing nurses, but also doctors and support staff.

The Regional Office, in partnership with the European Union, the Council of Europe and the Finnish Government, was preparing a European ministerial conference on mental health to be held in January 2005. The conference would propose an action plan, identifying the key challenges to be addressed over the coming years, including that of the workforce. Dr Muijen said that the time was right for achieving a consensus on action across Europe that could be delivered and had the potential to make a difference.

Ms Aase Jakobsen (Norwegian Nurses' Association) responded on behalf of the Forum to Dr Muijen's presentation, asking what was the most important factor in mental health prevention and how nurses and midwives could contribute

Dr Muijen said that the most important thing was to notice and trace the changes taking place in society and to influence the situation in order to attract more attention to mental health in the health care system. Health care personnel working in the area also merited higher esteem which should be reflected in salary, working conditions, education and personal development.

It was furthermore proposed that more nurses should be trained to identify "early warnings". He stressed the importance of all nurses and midwives, not only those working in mental health care, being alert to early symptoms so that treatment and prevention could be initiated at a very early stage. Questions from participants covered such topics as prevention, early diagnosis, training and funding decisions.

Promotion of mental health and prevention of mental ill health: searching out the evidence

The Technical Officer, Mental Health Programme, WHO headquarters, Geneva, who had prepared the background paper for the later workshops, made the next presentation.

Mental disorders were a common issue that could put significant burdens on individuals, families and communities. While cost-effective treatments were available, the overwhelming majority of those affected received no treatment, or the treatment they did receive was inadequate or even harmful. In 2001, the Fifty-fourth World Health Assembly had recommended priorities for action:

- provide treatment in primary care
- make psychotropic drugs available
- provide care in the community
- educate the public
- involve communities, families and consumers

- establish national policies, programmes and legislation
- develop human resources
- link with other sectors
- monitor community mental health
- support more research.

The recommendations were described from the point of view of nurses and midwives and opportunities were identified for them to help promote mental health and prevent and treat illness.

On behalf of the Forum, Ms Jakobsen asked the Technical Officer's opinion and expectations regarding the practical organization of the work of nurses and midwives in primary health care. The Technical Officer replied that it should be the responsibility of each community to decide how to organize their work so as to provide the best possible care and treatment.

Participants highlighted the need to focus on the homeless who were at greater risk of late diagnosis and treatment. The impact on nurses and midwives working in mental health was also discussed. It was noted that, while such work was not always considered to be of high status, nurses and midwives working in the area were affected by the shortage of economic resources for patient care and treatment, which also had repercussions on their working conditions and salaries.

The conclusion was that the professional organizations had a very important role to play with regard to salary and employment conditions for nurses and midwives, as well as their professional development in the area of mental health.

Values and attitudes needed to be revised; this was a great challenge to governments, organizations and WHO. The comparison was made with care for the elderly where the same problems had been experienced some years previously and success had been achieved in changing the situation.

Introduction to workshops

The Manager introduced the workshops on mental health. The meeting broke into three working groups, A, B and C, two English- and one Russian-speaking.

The following issues were raised for discussion:

- 1. Is mental health important for nurses and midwives?
- 2. How can we improve the education and training of nurses in mental health? What should the priorities be (e.g. increasing mental health in basic training, developing specialist courses, continuing education)?
- 3. How can we increase nursing research in mental health?
- 4. What can nurses/midwives do to promote community care for people with mental disorders (e.g. advocacy, training for nurses in rehabilitation, community education)?

- 5. How can nurses/midwives effectively influence other stakeholders to improve mental health (collaborating with other sectors, promoting consumer and family organizations)?
- 6. How can nurses/midwives from different countries work together more effectively to improve mental health in Europe (influencing governments, promoting networks, role of WHO, role of ICN)?

The discussions were intended to supplement the draft Statement which had been sent by e-mail and distributed to all the participants.

Presentation of workshop reports

The workshop reports were presented and discussed.

Concluding session

The draft Statement on mental health, nursing and midwifery was presented. There was a lively discussion of the feedback from the working groups in relation to the draft Statement.

The following amendments were proposed:

- 1. It is an essential function of nurses and midwives to be able to recognize and take action in relation to mental health disorders.
- 2. Solutions lie not only in economic resources but also in human resources.
- 3. It is important for nurses and midwives to contribute to lobbying at governmental level in respect of economic resources, as well as development, research and the dissemination of research results.
- 4. It is important that professionals should be aware of their own mental health.
- 5. Primary health care work with families should be strengthened.

After discussion, it was concluded that the proposed revised amendments should be included in the Statement

Adoption of the Statement on mental health, nursing and midwifery

The meeting adopted the proposed amendments to the draft Statement.

The Manager informed participants that the final Statement would be sent to WHO with a view to its inclusion in the documents for the WHO European Ministerial Conference on Mental Health in Helsinki in January 2005. The final Statement on mental health, nursing and midwifery would be available on the Forum web site within 14 days of the meeting.

Dates and venue of next meeting

The Ninth Annual Meeting of the EFNNMA and WHO would be held at the WHO Regional Office for Europe in Copenhagen on 17 and 18 March 2005.

The members were informed that the meeting of the Standing Committee of Nurses of the European Union was scheduled for 15 and 16 March 2005, just before the Forum meeting.

Closing

The Chairperson once again thanked the President and Secretary of NMA of The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, for their great hospitality and the work they had put into organizing and hosting the annual meeting.

She concluded by congratulating the participants on their hard work over the previous two days and wishing them all a safe journey home.

FEEDBACK FROM THE WORKING GROUPS

Feedback from Group A

Issue 1:

- encourage nurses/midwives to promote health including all its components: physical, mental and social;
- all nurses/midwives may encounter patients with more or less severe mental disorders and have to be prepared to cope with them.

Issue 2:

- implement the WHO Strategy for Nursing Education;
- improve basic nursing education programmes through increased study of mental health;
- increase the amount of continuing education (specialization, exchange of experience, conferences/seminars).

Issue 3:

- show nurses that they are able not only to introduce care, but also to improve it by carrying out research;
- make use of the potential of nurses with higher (university) education by encouraging them to start research;
- use the experience of countries with large numbers of nursing/midwifery researchers.

Issue 4:

- be real advocates of patients' rights;
- promote prevention and early detection of mental disorders;
- develop standards of nursing care in mental health;
- work with patients (self-help) and families.

Issue 5:

- involve health ministry representatives in joint discussions and conferences on mental health;
- use media to influence society and officials/leaders.

Issue 6:

- exchange experiences;
- share examples of positive nursing/midwifery innovations concerning mental health and of positive and effective reforms in mental health care.

Feedback from Group B

Issue 2:

- promote training and education of nurses and midwives;
- participate in curriculum development;
- encourage preparation through competency-based programmes and lifelong learning;
- include mental health in basic programmes with special emphasis on those providing care;
- consider circumstances, shortages and health systems.

Issue 3:

- lobby government policy-makers to have research included on their agenda;
- encourage national nurses/midwives to identify research questions;
- build alliances and collaborate on joint projects;
- share ideas on grant-giving bodies;
- promote mental health to researchers as an ideal topic.

Issue 6:

- use the Forum;
- establish electronic discussion groups;
- build networks;
- arrange conferences.

Feedback from Group C

Issue 1:

- model behaviour patterns indicative of mental ill health;
- assess impact of mental ill health on physical health;
- emphasize importance of prevention;
- ensure support for nurses and midwives (The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia).

Issue 2:

- include mental health training in pre-registration training;
- assess experience of direct-entry programmes;
- offer post-registration training;
- look at ongoing mental health education for midwives.

Issue 3:

- broaden topic to include midwifery research in mental health;
- create (or disseminate) databases of research results;
- disseminate research (example of Danish Nurses' Organization).

Issue 4:

- encourage nursing/midwifery associations to promote good practice models (e.g. those of the Royal College of Nursing/Royal College of Midwives, United Kingdom);
- ensure presence of a nurse or midwife at every level of policy-making;
- emphasize the importance of education.

Issue 5:

- hold conferences/meetings with a wide range of stakeholders (Sweden);
- encourage nurses to stand for parliament (Lithuania);
- develop stakeholder groups to ensure implementation of recommendations (Ireland);
- encourage nurses and midwives to be less defensive about professional boundaries.

Issue 6:

- emphasize the importance of nurses and midwives sharing information at local and regional levels;
- encourage nurses and midwives to recognize the power of the voices of the six million nurses in the European Region;
- emphasize the need to use all existing networks to share information.

STATEMENT ON MENTAL HEALTH, NURSING AND MIDWIFERY

The European Forum of National Nursing and Midwifery Associations and WHO,

Recognizing resolution WHA55.10 on mental health: "Responding to the call for action";

Understanding that the WHO European Ministerial Conference on Mental Health: Facing the challenges, building solutions will be held in Helsinki, Finland from 12 to 15 January, 2005;

Recognizing that mental disorders are a substantial burden on individuals, families and communities, and that they increase mortality, cause significant disability, and increase the risk of social exclusion;

Aware that stigma, discrimination and human rights violations are major obstacles in caring for people with mental disorders and contribute to human suffering;

Recognizing the effect of early detection and intervention by nurses and midwives working with or supporting individuals and families in preventing, promoting and managing mental ill health;

Understanding that investment in mental health in many countries is disproportionately low compared with the burden of mental ill health and the availability of effective treatments;

Understanding that too many countries spend most of their mental health resources on a few large mental asylums, which focus on only a small proportion of people who need treatment, frequently provide poor quality care and have been associated with inhumane conditions and treatment;

Understanding the importance of competence in nurses and midwives and that the lack of mental health skills among health workers in primary care is a major barrier to people's access to appropriate mental health care;

Conscious that general nursing and midwifery programmes do not always prepare nurses and midwives to respond to the mental health needs of their patients, and that there is a need to ensure that the mental health content in the education programmes of nurses and midwives is strengthened;

Aware that many countries have a shortage of nurses and midwives available for mental health care and that many nurses leave low- and middle-income countries for work in high-income countries;

Conscious that many mental health nurses themselves experience stigma and discrimination;

1. URGES governments to:

- increase the resources available for mental health promotion and the prevention and treatment of mental disorders;
- involve consumers and their families in the development of mental health policies and services;
- increase the availability of mental health care in primary care and ensure that nurses and midwives are adequately prepared for this role, recognizing their own mental health needs;
- promote the development of community mental health services;

- implement programmes to reduce the stigma and discrimination associated with mental disorders;
- enhance the mental health content in nursing and midwifery education and training;
- support the development of specialist mental health training for nurses and midwives;
- develop strategies to recruit and retain an adequate supply of nurses and midwives with mental health skills;
- implement the European Health Committee's 1996 recommendation on nursing strategy;¹

2. URGES nurses and midwives to:

- respect the human rights and autonomy of people with mental disorders, including health professionals;
- help prevent the negative impact of stigma and discrimination on people with mental disorders and minimize its effect on nursing care;
- participate in public debate to support understanding of mental health disorders and ease life for individuals and families;
- expand their role in providing treatment and support to people with mental disorders;
- enhance development of continuing education programmes on mental health and nursing/midwifery and collaborate across all boundaries;
- recognize their own learning needs and participate in training programmes on mental health;
- support the development of community mental health programmes;
- contribute to mental health research activities;
- implement mental health nursing and midwifery research to achieve evidence-based nursing and midwifery.

¹ European Health Committee (CDSP). *Nursing research report and recommendations*, Strasbourg, Council of Europe, 1996.

LIST OF DOCUMENTS

Working papers	
5049097/1	Provisional list of working papers and background material
5049097/2	Scope and purpose
5049097/3	Provisional agenda
5049097/4	Provisional programme
5049097/5	Provisional list of participants
5049097/6	Revised operational principles
5049097/7	Revised election principles
5049097/8	Draft strategic plan 2003–2008 for the European Forum of National Nursing and Midwifery Associations and WHO
5049097/9	Mental health report presented at the fifty-third session of the Regional Committee for Europe
5049097/10	Draft Statement on mental health, nursing and midwifery
5049097/11	Financial report
5049097/12	Financial statement, January – December 2003
5049097/13	Budget proposal for January - December 2004 and 2005

Background material

5049097/14	Background paper by Ms Margaret Grigg, Ms Michelle Funk and Ms Natalie Drew, Mental Health Policy and Service Development team, Department of Mental Health and Substance Abuse, WHO headquarters
	Comment of the WHO Francisco Ministral Conference

Scope and purpose of the WHO European Ministerial Conference on Mental Health: Facing the challenges, building solutions. Helsinki,

Finland, 12-15 January 2005

Background documents

Munich Declaration - Nurses and midwives: a force for health EUR/02/5038087/BD1

(17 June 2000)

WHO Europe Mental Health Nursing Curriculum EUR/03/5043918g

Questionnaire on tracking progress since Munich

STRATEGIC PLAN 2003–2008 FOR THE EUROPEAN FORUM OF NATIONAL NURSING AND MIDWIFERY ASSOCIATIONS AND WHO

Acknowledgement

The Steering Committee of the Eighth Annual Meeting of the European Forum of National Nursing and Midwifery Associations and WHO wishes to thank Margaret Jane Wallace for her support in the production of this document.

Introduction

The proposals for the European Forum of National Nursing and Midwifery Associations and WHO Strategic Plan have been revised, following the discussion at the meeting of the Steering Group in Copenhagen on 6 June 2000. The revised Plan was approved at the Steering Committee Meeting in October 2003.

Mission of the European Forum of National Nursing and Midwifery Associations and WHO

The European Forum of National Nursing and Midwifery Associations exists to recognize the value of dialogue and the potential strength of joint action to promote health in Europe. It is a unique platform on which to consider health-related issues of concern to both nursing and midwifery across the whole of Europe and to combine the strengths of the national nursing and midwifery associations and WHO. It works collaboratively with other key groups, as appropriate, to avoid duplication of human and financial resources.

Key objectives

Key objective 1

To identify annually key policy issues of relevance to Forum members and agree a coordinated strategy of approach.

Key objective 2

To act as an information and networking resource for Forum members, sharing information about health and health policies which impact on nursing and midwifery across Europe.

Key objective 3

To actively support implementation of the Munich Declaration of 2000.

Objective details

Key objective 1

To identify annually key policy issues of relevance to Forum members and agree a coordinated strategy of approach.

Proposed action

To request the Steering Group to identify each year, in advance of the meeting, a topic (or topics) of relevance for the year ahead. Possible subjects for consideration will relate to areas of WHO priority. Presentations and workshop activity at the plenary meeting will then be focused on this subject and the necessary action for the forthcoming year agreed at the meeting. Evaluation of the year's work will take place at the following meeting and a new topic agreed. This will have the advantage of focusing activity and coordinating effort and will also build in an evaluation process.

Outcomes

- 1. Identified, coordinated activities targeted
- 2. Effectiveness of Forum activity assessed
- 3. Emerging topics identified as a result of flexibility of system.

Time frame

The detailed time frame for:

- seeking suggestions for topic(s) from delegates
- Steering Group agreement on selection of topic(s)
- identification of necessary speakers, workshop sessions, etc.
- agreement on an evaluation technique for the previous topic(s)

will be agreed by the Steering Group year by year, according to when meetings are held.

Responsibility: Steering Group

Decision: the theme for 2003/2004 will be mental health.

Key objective 2

To act as an information and networking resource for Forum members, sharing information about health and health policies which impact on nursing and midwifery across Europe.

Proposed action

To establish a web site and an electronic newsletter; inform members of developments and ways of contributing to and using the site; encourage members to use the resource; and evaluate use of these resources in terms of effectiveness.

Outcomes

- 1. Web site established
- 2. Newsletter established
- 3. Reports received from participating countries on use of new resources.

Time frame

- Web site and newsletter in place by next Forum meeting in 2004
- Effectiveness of this means of communication evaluated by 2006.

Responsibility: Regional Adviser; Steering Group

Kev objective 3

To actively support implementation of the Munich Declaration of 2000.

Proposed action

To use the Forum as a means of tracking the progress of implementation of the Munich Declaration on nursing and midwifery over the next five years.

Outcomes

1. Individual countries able to monitor and explicitly demonstrate ways in which their governments are (or are not) implementing the proposals of the Munich Declaration against an agreed framework.

Time frame

Ongoing, but with annual reviews.

<u>Responsibility</u>: WHO Regional Adviser; European Forum of National Nursing and Midwifery Associations; WHO

FINANCIAL STATEMENT, JANUARY-DECEMBER 2003

INCOME	Approved Budget	Final statement US\$
Balance carried over from 2002	US\$ 11 992	11 992.00
Membership fees	27 100 ^a	24 884.00 ^b
	=:	
Total	39 092	36 876.00
EXPENDITURE		
Steering Committee and Secretariat		
Administrative support	24 000	18 293.41
Chairperson (travel etc.)	5 592	0.00 ^c
Printing/mailing	500	3 747.32
Programme support costs	3 500	3 458.00
Annual Meeting 2003		
Financial support to participants		
Admin. support		
Lunch, reception, coffee and refreshments		
Editing and printing/mailing of Forum report	1 500	
Secretariat travel and per diem		
Speaker(s) travel and per diem	2 000	1 501.90
Task force		
Printing/publishing/other	2 000	
Total	39 092	27 000.63
To be carried over to 2004		9 875.37

 ^a Estimated on basis of 32 associations paying fees
 ^b 30 associations paid fees in 2003
 ^c Expenditure covered by Danish Nurses' Organization.

BUDGET PROPOSAL FOR 2004 AND 2005

INCOME	2004 US\$	2005 US\$
Data and the second	1	
Balance carried over from 2003	9 875.37	0.00
Membership fees	26 716.00 ^a	26 800.00
Total	36 591.37	26 800.00
EXPENDITURE		
Steering Committee and Secretariat		
Administrative support	18 000.00	15 000.00
Chairperson (travel, etc.)	5 500.00	4 500.00
Printing/mailing	300.00	0.00
Programme support costs	3 473.00	3 500.00
Annual Meeting 2004		
Editing and printing/mailing of Forum report	4 000.00	
Secretariat travel and per diem	3 818.37	2 500.00
Speaker(s) travel and per diem	1 500.00	1 300.00
Total	36 591.37	26 800.00

^a Fees from 32 midwifery and nursing associations as of 15 April 2004.

LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

Belarus

Ms Larysa Liutko
President National Nursing Association of Belarus
Chief Nurse
Republican Scientific Practical Centre of
Children Oncology and Haematology
Lesnoe-2, Minsk district
223052 Belarus

Telephone No: +375 17 202 40 17 Fax No: +375 17 202 42 22 E-mail: <u>belooms@date.by</u> www.belooms.org

Croatia

Ms Rimac Brankica University Hospital Zagreb Kispaticeva 12 10000 Zagreb

Ms Milojevic Romanita University Hospital Zagreb Kispaticeva 12 10000 Zagreb Telephone: +00385 98 457920 Fax No: +00385 1 2388289 E-mail: branka.rimac@zg.ntnet.hr; hums@hums.hr

Telephone: +00385 98 457920 Fax: +00385 1 2388289 E-mail: <u>hums@hums.hr</u>

Denmark

Ms Annie Marott Danish Nurses' Organization Vimmelskaftet 38 DK-1161 Copenhagen K

Ms Merete Thorsén Chairman Chief Executive Officer Danish Nurses' Organization P.O. Box 1084, Vimmelskaftet 38 DK-2220 Copenhagen K

Ms Aase Langvad Vice-President Danish Nurses' Organization DNO 38, Vimmelskaftet, Post box 1084 DK-1008 Copenhagen K Telephone No: +45 33 15 16 Fax No: +45 33 15 24 55 E-mail: <u>ama@dsr.dk</u>

Telephone No: +45 33 15 15 55 Fax No: +45 33 15 45 74

E-mail address: meretethorsen@dsr.dk

mt@dsr.dk

Telephone No: +45 33 15 15 55 Fax No: +45 33 15 24 55 E-mail address: aal@dsr.dk

Finland

Ms Lisa Montin Finnish Nurses' Association MNSc, RN, Education Coordinator Asemamiehenkatu, 4 FIN-00520 Helsinki Finland Fax No: +358 9 1 48 18 40

E-mail:

liisa.montin@sairaanhoitajaliitto.fi

Ireland

Ms Annette Kennedy Irish Nurses' Organisation The Whitworth Building North Brunswich St Dublin 7 Ireland Telephone No: +353 (0)16640649 Fax No: +353 (0)1 6622334 E-mail: maria@ino.ie

Annette@ino.ie

Lithuania

Ms Ausra Volodkaite Lithuanian Nurses' Organization Kauno str. 37/59 Lt-2006 -Vilnius Lithuania Telephone No: +370 5 213 85 60.

E-mail: lsso@aiva.lt

Malta

Mr Stephen Demicoli RN (PSY DIP) Malta Union of Midwives and Nurses MUMN Tower Apartments No1 Tasisla Street BàKara BKR 13 Malta Telephone No: + 35621499947 Fax No: +35621448542 E-mail: <u>mumn@maltanet.net</u>

Nether lands

Ms Ria von Bönninghausen President NU'91 - National Nursing Association of the Netherlands Postbus 6001 3503 PA Utrecht The Netherlands Telephone No.: +31 302840428 Fax No: +31 302 963904 E-mail: a.mellema@nu91.nl

Mr Aaldert Mellema NU'91 Post box 6001 3503 PA Utrecht The Netherlands Telephone No: +0031302840428 Fax No: +0031302963404. E-mail: <u>a.mellema@nu91.nl</u> Ms Marian van Huis President KNOV PO Box 18 3720 AA Bilthoven The Netherlands Telephone No: +31 30 229 42 99 Mobile: +31 65 10 53 523 E-mail: <u>mvanhuis@knov.nl</u> ebeels@knov.nl

Norway

Ms Aase Jakobsen Norwegian Nurses' Association P.O. Box 456 Sentru – N- 0104 Oslo Norway Telephone No: +47 22 04 33 04 Mobile: +47 90 51 20 29 Fax No: +47 22 04 32 40

E-mail: aase.jakobsen@sykepleierforbundet.no

Romania

Ms Ecaterina Gulie Asociatia De Nursing din Romania Str. Dr. Ionescu Sisesti, bloc I 80 Ap 16 SC 1 Craiova Judetul Dolj Romania Telephone No: +4 021 232 57 66 Fax No: +4 021 232 57 66 E-mail: nursing@fx.ro catigulie@yahoo.com

Russian Federation

Ms Valentina A Sarkisova President Inter-Regional Association of Nurses of the Russian Federation Lomonosovskaya Str.3, room 20 191023 Saint Petersburg Russian Federation

Fax No: +7 812 310 40 21 E-mail: ina55@land.ru

Telephone No: +7 812 310 40 21

Ms Natalia Serebrennikova Interpreter Russian Nurses' Association 191023 St Petersburg Lomonosova Str.3, room 20 Russian Federation

Telephone No: +78122773151 Fax No: +78122773151 E-mail: <u>rna@mail.wplus.net</u>

Slovakia

Ms Mgr. Alzbeta Hanzlikova Slovak Chamber of Nurses and Midwives Amurska 71 851 06 Bratislava

Ms Ph Dr Dana Zrubcova Slovak Chamber of Nurses and Midwives Amurska 71 851 06 Bratislava Telephone No: +4212 4020 2066 Fax No: +421 2 40202064 E-mail: sksapa@sksapa.sk hanzlikova@sksapa.sk

Telephone No: +4212 4020 2066 Fax No: +421 2 40202064 E-mail: <u>sksapa@sksapa.sk</u> EUR/04/5049097 page 24

Slovenia

Ms Petra Kersmic Telephone No: +38614305280
Nurses' Association of Slovenia E-mail: <u>zveza.med.sester@slov.net</u>
Vidovdanska 9

1000 Ljubljana

Ms Bojana Filej Telephone No: +38614305280 Nurses' Association of Slovenia E-mail: bojana.filej@slov.net

Vidovdanska 9 1000 Ljubljana

Sweden

Ms Kerstin BelfrageTelephone No: +46 8 147745Officer, R.N.M.Mobile: +46 7 0688 0984Swedish Association of HealthFax No: +46 8 147838

Professionals-SHSTF, Board Member E-mail: kerstin.belfrage@vardforbundet.se

Box 3260

S-10365 Stockholm

Sweden

The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia

Ms Velca Lukic Gavrovska

Telephone No: +389 2 147 329

National Nursing Counterpart, President

Macedonian Association of Nurses and Midwives

E-mail: lukicvelka@yahoo.com

Clinic of Psychiatry 17 Vodnjanska St. 91000 Skopje

Ms Kornelia Cipuseva Telephone No: +389 23 118 572 Secretary E-mail: koni@sfcg.org.mk

Macedonian Association of Nurses and Midwives

United Kingdom

Dame Karlene Davis

General Secretary

Telephone No: + 44 7312 3443

Fax No: +44 7312 3442

The Royal College of Midwives of the UK

WHO Collaborating Centre

Telephone No: + 44 7312 3443

Fax No: +44 7312 3442

E-mail: Karlene.davis@rcm.org.uk

The Royal College of Midwives o WHO Collaborating Centre 15 Mansfield Street UK-W1M 0BE London United Kingdom

Ms Frances Day-Stirk
Director Learning Research & Practice Development
The Royal College of Midwives of the UK
15 Mansfield Street
UK-W1M 0BE London
United Kingdom

Telephone No: + 44 7312 3443 Fax No: +44 7312 3442

E-mail: frances.day-stirk@rcm.org.uk

Ms Sylvia Denton Telephone: +44 207 647 37 80

President Telephone mobile: +44 079 00 39 38 50

The Royal College of Nursing Fax No: +44 207 647 34 34

20 Cavendish Square E-mail: sylvia.denton.president@rcn.org.uk London WIM OAB

United Kingdom

Ms Caroline Hyde-Price Telephone No: +020 7647 3594 Royal College of Nursing Fax No: +020 7647 3413

20 Cavendish Square
London W1G orn
United Kingdom

E-mail: caroline.hyde-price@rcn.org.uk

Observers

Ms Ljiljana Laco Telephone No: +387 212 857/ 65 596 189

Government Chief Nurse Fax No.: +387 51216601

Ministry of Health & Social Care RS E-mail: ministarstvo-<u>zdravlja@blic.net</u>

Zdrave Korde 4 51000 Banja Luka Bosnia and Herzegovina

Ms Ivanka Franjic Telephone No: +387 33 220 542 Government Cheif Nurse Fax No: +387 33 664 245

Federal Ministry of Health E-mail: Ivanka.Franjic@fmoh.gov.ba

Titova 9, 71 000 Sarajevo Bosnia and Herzegovina

Ms Stanka Markova Telephone No: +359 25812301
President Tel/Fax No: +35929549307
Bulgarian Association of Health Professionals in Nursing E-mail: bg.nursing@abv.bg

15 Acad. Ivan Geshov" str, fl.2, room 74

Sofia Bulgaria

Ms Tamara Saktanova Telephone No: +996 312 66 75 62

President E-mail: ror@who.dk

Nursing Association of Kyrgyzstan and Government Chief Nurse Ministry of Health Ul. Moskovskaya 148 720405 Bishkek Kyrgyzstan

Ms Anna Blak-Kaleta
Telephone No: + 48 228312191
Ministry of Health
Fax No: + (0048) 226349465
Ul. Miodowa 15
E-mail: a.blak-kaleta@mz.gov.pl

Poland

Ms Barbara Mozgan Telephone: +386 1 5872311
Psychiatric Clinic Ljubljana, Slovenia Fax: +386 1 587 2311

On behalf of WHO CC Maribor E-mail: barbara.mozgan@psih-klinika.si

Studenec 48 Ljubljana 1000 Slovenia EUR/04/5049097 page 26

Ms Pat Hughes Temporary Chief Scientist for Nursing WHO headquarters E-mail: buddm@euro.who.int

Temporary Advisers

Ms Margaret Jane Wallace Professional Development Adviser Jada Union Lane Kingsclere, Newbury Berks RG20 4SS United Kingdom Telephone No: +44 1635 298 794 Fax No: +44 1635 299788

E-mail: mjwwatershipdown@msn.com

World Health Organization

Mr Matt Muijen Telephone No: +45 39 171717
Regional Adviser for Mental Health Fax No: +45 39 17 1818
WHO Regional Office for Europe E-mail: mfm@euro.who.int

Ms Lis Wagner
Telephone No: +45 39 17 1355
Manager
Fax No: +45 39 17 1818
Nursing and Midwifery Programme
WHO Regional Office for Europe

Telephone No: +45 39 17 1355
Fax No: +45 39 17 1818
E-mail: lwa@euro.who.int

Ms Elena Galmond
Telephone No: +45 39 17 1577
Secretary
Fax No: +45 39 17 1818
Nursing and Midwifery Programme
WHO Regional Office for Europe

Telephone No: +45 39 17 1577
Fax No: +45 39 17 1818
E-mail: egm@euro.int.who

Ms Margaret Grigg E-mail: griggm@euro.who.int

Technical Officer WHO headquarters

Mr Jukka Pukkila Telephone No: + 389 2 3064299
The Head of WHO Country Office Support Fax No: +389 2 3063710
WHO Office Skopje E-mail: jpu@who.org.mk
The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia

Ms Maria Kisman

WHO Liaison Officer, deputy Head Office

WHO Office Skopje

The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia

Telephone No: + 389 2 3064299

Fax No: +389 2 3063710

E-mail: mki@who.org.mk

PARTICIPANTS FROM THE FORMER YUGOSLAV REPUBLIC OF MACEDONIA

NAME	EMPLOYED IN
Vesela Gashtevska	Health Center Bitola
2. Pavlinka Doseva	Patronage Service in Kavadarci
3. Makedonka Taleva	Medical Center Kavadarci
4. Natalija Dechovska	Patronage Service in Stip
5. Liljana Efremova	Medical Center Stip
6. Olgica Mojsova Pepelasheva	Medical Center Veles
7. Vesna Prenjova	Medical Center Veles
8. Cvetanka Janusheva	Medical Center Veles
9. Mare Meshkova	Medical Center Ohrid
10. Nikanda Kiprovska	Clinic of Obstetrics in Skopje
11. Tanja Trajkovska	Clinic of Obstetrics in Skopje
12. Snezana Kostova	Clinic of Cardiology Skopje
13. Isidora Nikolovska	Clinic of Cardiology Skopje
14. Vaska Pargovska	Clinic of Neurology Skopje
15. Sonja Denkovska	Clinic of Endocrinology Skopje
16. Roze Kovalakovska	Clinic of Pediatrics Skopje
17. Gordana Bilinska	Health Center Skopje
18. Tatjana Haji-Andova	Health Center Skopje
19. Hajiflorija Hamid	Health Center Skopje
20. Valentina Gorichanec	Health Center Skopje
21. Elma Raemi	Health Center Skopje
22. Roze Karadakovska	Health Center Skopje
23. Ivona Savova	Mental Health Hospital Skopje
24. Dushanka Crvenova	Mental Health Hospital Skopje
25. Stojan Andonov	Mental Health Center Skopje
26. Marija Trajkovska	Army Hospital Skopje
27. Gordana Kaevska	Army Hospital Skopje
28. Dragana Jordanovska	Army Hospital Skopje
29. Darko Dimov	Clinic of Psychiatry Skopje
30. Liljana Trpcevska	Clinic of Psychiatry Skopje